#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE	$\mathbf{FL}$	OR.	IDA	$\mathbf{B}^{A}$	١R
-----	---------------	-----	-----	------------------	----

Case No. SC02-1537

Re: PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT	TFB File No. 2003- 00,019(1A)	
OF ANDREW REYNOLDS MCGRAW,		(NRE
		)
	/	

# THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

OLIVIA PAIVA KLEIN Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5845 Attorney Number 0970247

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel, The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 Attorney Number 253847

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, THE FLORIDA BAR, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar" throughout this Initial Brief.

Petitioner/Appellee, ANDREW REYNOLDS MCGRAW, will be referred to as "Petitioner."

References to the Transcript of the final hearing held on July 25, 2003, shall be designated as "T" with the appropriate number, i.e., "T-155."

References to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar shall be designated as "Rule" with the appropriate number, i.e., "Rule 3-7.1", or as "Rules."

References to the Report of Referee issued on November 20, 2003, shall be designated as "ROR" followed by the appropriate page number, i.e., "ROR-12."

References to The Florida Bar's Exhibits presented before the referee at final hearing shall be designated as "TFB-Exhibit" with the appropriate number, i.e., "TFB-Exhibit 4."

References to Petitioner's Exhibits presented before the referee at final hearing shall be designated as "P-Exhibit" with the appropriate number, i.e., "P-

# Exhibit 3."

References to Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. shall be designated as "FLA."

References to Health Care Connection of Tampa, Florida, a drug rehabilitation program shall be designated as "HCC."

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On January 11, 2000, Petitioner filed a verified Petition for Reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3-7.10. P-Exhibit 3. Subsequently, The Florida Bar discovered that Petitioner had failed to include in his verified Petition that he had been arrested on a DUI charge in January 1999, had pled *nolo contendere* to a lesser offense of reckless driving, was adjudged guilty, and given, *inter alia*, 6-months probation. Upon notice of this omission to Petitioner's counsel, Petitioner filed an Amended Petition disclosing his arrest and subsequent plea. Petitioner's counsel represented to The Florida Bar and later the Referee that Petitioner had informed his counsel of the DUI, and the omission was an inadvertent "mistake." See

As part of its investigation of the reinstatement petition, The Florida Bar sought a recommendation from Myer J. ("Mike") Cohen, Executive Director of FLA, regarding Petitioner's fitness to return to the practice of law. In an affidavit dated April 19, 2000, Mr. Cohen described Petitioner's lengthy history of noncompliance with FLA contracts from August 1, 1996 through April 2000, and concluded that "reinstatement to practice would represent a danger to his clients and the public." P-Exhibit 2B.

Petitioner's counsel requested a continuance of the final hearing date in May

2000, that was granted by the referee, so that Petitioner could enter Twelve Oaks Treatment Center to participate in a substance abuse treatment program. TFB-Exhibit 1. After treatment at Twelve Oaks in June 2000, with no other known instances of FLA violations by Petitioner, Mr. Cohen submitted a second affidavit dated November 15, 2000, that tenuously agreed to Petitioner's reinstatement, but only under the strictest guidelines for weekly supervision of Petitioner's substance abuse problems. P-Exhibit 2A. A final hearing was held before the Referee on December 13, 2000, in Pensacola, Florida, at which The Florida Bar opposed Petitioner's reinstatement to the practice of law. TFB-Exhibit 7.

Subsequent to the final hearing, the parties' counsel presented an oral argument to the referee on January 4, 2001. Before the proposed report of referee could be issued, however, FLA reported to The Florida Bar that Petitioner had tested positive for cocaine during a random urinalysis test on January 11, 2001. TFB-Exhibit 9. Based on this new development, The Florida Bar moved to reopen the evidentiary record.

The Florida Bar's motion was heard before the referee on January 25, 2001, and a Supplemental Hearing was scheduled for April 24, 2001. Before that date, however, Petitioner filed a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal of his Petition for Reinstatement on March 5, 2001, agreeing not to refile for one year and to pay

taxable costs to The Florida Bar. Based on the Notice of Voluntary Dismissal, the Referee recommended the dismissal of the Petition for Reinstatement. On November 21, 2001, The Florida Supreme Court entered an Order approving the Report of Referee and assessing costs against Petitioner.

On July 10, 2002, Petitioner filed a second verified Petition for Reinstatement pursuant to Rule 3-7.10. P-Exhibit 11. Two months after filing his second Petition for Reinstatement, Petitioner entered HCC, a drug rehabilitation center in Tampa, Florida, on September 10, 2002. The parties' counsel held a telephone status conference with the referee on October 24, 2002, and scheduled a final hearing date of January 7, 2003. Since Petitioner was still in HCC in December 2002, the final hearing was rescheduled for April 2, 2003.

After Petitioner's release from HCC on or about January 7, 2003, the parties' counsel engaged in discovery from January 28, 2003, through March 24, 2003. The Florida Bar filed a Notice of Deposition Duces Tecum on February 5, 2003, and deposed Petitioner on February 25, 2003. The Florida Bar filed a Motion to Compel Discovery that was heard by the referee on March 19, 2003. The Florida Bar filed a Notice of Deposition Duces Tecum and subpoenaed various witnesses for deposition on March 26, 2003, and March 28, 2003. A Second Amended Notice of Final Hearing was filed on March 28, 2003. A final hearing on

Petitioner's second verified reinstatement petition was held before the referee on July 25, 2003.

Subsequent to the final hearing, the parties scheduled an oral argument on September 10, 2003. On the day before the hearing, Petitioner's counsel served the Florida Bar with a Motion for Leave to Submit Additional Evidence. On the day of the oral argument, Petitioner's counsel provided an affidavit of Stanley Spring, who was Petitioner's local FLA monitor. P-Exhibit 15. Over the objection of The Florida Bar's counsel, the referee granted the motion, and set down October 14, 2003, for a supplemental hearing and oral argument.

On this date, Petitioner submitted into evidence Mr. Spring's affidavit.

Contrary to his testimony on July 25, 2003, Mr. Spring testified in his affidavit that, based on Petitioner's conduct from July 25, 2003 through September 9, 2003, he had changed his mind, and now supported Petitioner's reinstatement. P-Exhibit 15.

The Florida Bar submitted an affidavit of Judy Rushlow, Assistant Director of FLA, indicating that FLA did not agree with Mr. Spring's recommendation, and that he had acted without any prior consultation with FLA. TFB-Exhibit 19.

The parties' counsel submitted to the referee a Joint Statement of Case,

Statement of Undisputed Facts, and Statement of Law, as well as individual

Proposed Conclusions of Law. The referee issued his report on November 20,

2003, recommending that Petitioner be reinstated to the practice of law in Florida.

The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review of the Report of Referee with the Florida Supreme Court on January 16, 2004.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Petitioner was admitted to The Florida Bar on July 22, 1994. Beginning in March 1997, the Florida Supreme Court entered three disciplinary orders against Petitioner. In the first disciplinary case, Case No. 90,086, The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Emergency Suspension pursuant to Rule 3-5.2. On March 25, 1997, the Court granted The Florida Bar's Petition for Emergency Suspension effective April 7, 1997. Petitioner was initially charged with a felony sexual battery upon a person under 16 but over 12 years of age. After the first trial ended in a hung jury, Petitioner pled *nolo contendere* on February 11, 1997, to misdemeanor battery and was sentenced to 11 months in the county jail to be served at a work camp, to write a letter of apology to the victim, to pay for counseling, and to pay other fees and costs. See Attachments to P-Exhibits 3, 11.

As a result of this conviction, a second disciplinary complaint, Case No. 92,473, was opened by The Florida Bar. Petitioner entered into a consent judgment with The Florida Bar on the misdemeanor battery charge in which he admitted that he committed this offense while he was intoxicated. Petitioner was suspended for two years effective April 7, 1997, the date of the initial emergency suspension.

After his release from jail, Petitioner was also required to enter into a three-year FLA contract, to be placed on probation for three years after reinstatement, and to

pay taxable costs to The Florida Bar.

**FLA Contracts** 

In the third disciplinary case, Case No. 93,175, Petitioner received a discipline of 91 days, to run concurrent with the two-year suspension, for failing to diligently pursue and to properly communicate with a client who was charged with second degree murder. In addition to costs, Petitioner was placed on probation for one year to run concurrent with the three-year probation, and required to pay \$5000 in restitution to his former client upon reinstatement. Petitioner submitted the notice to clients pursuant to Rule 3-5.1(g) and filed the affidavit with The Florida Bar on September 12, 1999. See P-Exhibit 5.

Petitioner has a long history of crack cocaine and alcohol abuse. He has failed to comply with five FLA contracts that he signed from August 1, 1996 through January 7, 2003. Petitioner's FLA contracts and his noncompliance with those contracts can be summarized as follows:

Noncompliance

TLA Contracts	<u>rvoncompnance</u>
8/1/96-court ordered	Signed by Petitioner but no compliance
1/97-per request of Judge compliance John P. Kuder	Contract never executed and no
10/13/97 - 10/13/00 pursuant to consent judgment and Supreme Court Order	Positive cocaine test 4/15/98-Petitioner denied use and refused evaluation
-	DUI arrest- January 1999

June 9, 1998-amended adding

Pathways Program, psychotherapy,

monthly urinalysis

No meetings with monitor-10/97-2/98

No attendance at AA and FLA

meetings- 3/98-11/98

Resumed drinking alcohol-12/98

No attendance at meetings-8/99-11/99

No meetings with monitor and continued

drinking- 1/99-8/99

3/00 -Failed to complete Pathways

Program

12/5/00-12/5/03

Presented at 12/13/00 hearing

Positive cocaine test- 1/11/01

Contract never filed with FLA

7/1/01-7/1/04

trunk

HCC -

Positive cocaine test and beer bottles in of Petitioner's car upon admission to

9/11/02

<u>1/3/03 - 1/3/08</u>

recommended by HCC

Use of alcohol - 5/03

FLA terminates contract and closes file-

6/26/03

See P-Exhibits 1A, 1B, 14; TFB-Exhibits 15 and 16.

On January 11, 2000, Petitioner's counsel filed a Petition for Reinstatement to the practice of law. P-Exhibit 3. This petition was voluntarily withdrawn on

March 5, 2001, after Petitioner tested positive for cocaine on January 11, 2001.

Petitioner filed a second verified petition for reinstatement on July 10, 2002, that

was granted by the referee on November 20, 2003. P-Exhibit 11.

Petition for Reinstatement #1-January 11, 2000

After Petitioner filed his first petition for reinstatement, Mr. Cohen reviewed

Petitioner's past FLA contract history from August 1, 1996 forward, and concluded in an affidavit dated April 19, 2000, that Petitioner would pose a danger to his clients and the public, and he should not be reinstated into the practice of law. P-Exhibit 2B.

Upon receipt of this FLA affidavit, Petitioner's counsel moved for a continuance of Petitioner's reinstatement hearing that was scheduled for July 10, 2000. In June 2000, Petitioner entered Twelve Oaks, a drug rehabilitation center, for three weeks of treatment. P-Exhibit 7. In his discharge summary, Dr. Rick Beach, Medical Director at Twelve Oaks, wrote that Petitioner needed an extended long-term residential treatment program, and he did not recommend Petitioner's return to the practice of law. TFB-Exhibit 1; TFB-Exhibit 7 at p. 81-82. By the final hearing, however, FLA presented a guarded recommendation for reinstatement on condition that Petitioner strictly complied with the December 5, 2000, FLA contract that he had signed. P-Exhibits 1A and 2A. The three-year FLA contract called for 52 random urine drug/alcohol screens for the first year, 24 random screens for the second year, and one random screen monthly for the third year. Based on Petitioner's agreement to comply with the terms of the FLA contract, Mr. Spring also testified in support of Petitioner's return to the practice of law.

After Petitioner tested positive for cocaine on January 11, 2001, however, he

withdrew his petition on March 5, 2001. TFB-Exhibit 9. Petitioner also failed to file the December 5, 2000, contract with FLA. Subsequently, he signed another standard FLA contract in July 2001, that required only a minimum of four random urine drug/alcohol screens per year. TFB-Exhibit 16.

# Petition for Reinstatement #2 - July 10, 2002

On July 10, 2002, Petitioner submitted a second verified Petition for Reinstatement to The Florida Supreme Court and the Petition was referred to a Referee pursuant to Rule 3-7.10(d). P-Exhibit 11. Two months after filing his second reinstatement petition, on September 10, 2002, Petitioner entered HCC, a residential drug treatment program in Tampa, Florida. Upon arrival at HCC, Petitioner tested positive for cocaine and HCC also discovered beer bottles in the truck of his car. Petitioner remained at HCC until January 7, 2003, when he was discharged. TFB-Exhibit 12A. Before leaving HCC, Petitioner signed another FLA contract for five years beginning January 3, 2003 through 2008. P-Exhibit 14.

As part of HCC's recommended aftercare program, Petitioner was to contact Licensed Mental Health Counselor David Grady on a regular basis. Mr. Grady testified at the July 25, 2003, final hearing that Petitioner had admitted to him that he had been drinking beer on two occasions at the end of June 2003, several weeks before Petitioner's final hearing on reinstatement. T-46-49.Petitioner testified

it was May 2003. T-242. Mr. Spring wrote in his June monitor's report to FLA that he had been told by a credible source that Petitioner had been drinking Corona beer on Pensacola Beach, and had advised his associates that he had permission to drink beer from FLA. See attachment to TFB-Exhibit 11.

At the final hearing on July 25, 2003, Mike Cohen, Judy Rushlow, and Stan Spring, all representing FLA, did not recommend Petitioner's reinstatement to The Florida Bar. T-162, T-289. Timothy Sweeney, Director of Recovering Attorney's Program at HCC, also agreed in his deposition of July 21, 2003, that Petitioner should not be reinstated to the practice of law. He stated "I think Drew needs to clock some more clean time." TFB-Exhibit 12 at p. 37. When asked whether he would recommend that Petitioner be reinstated to The Florida Bar, he testified: "...I just don't think we're there yet with Drew, and it pains me to say that." TFB-Exhibit 12 at p. 38. Further, he stated: "At this particular point in time, I don't have the confident [sic]in Drew-- confidence in Drew's current recovery to be able to state with confidence that he's out of the woods with his chemical dependency."

The only witnesses presented by Petitioner at the hearing were David Grady, and Petitioner's mother and father who testified in support of their son. T-19, T-87, T-114.

Less than six weeks after the final hearing, Mr. Spring submitted an affidavit to the referee claiming that, based on Petitioner's conduct from July 26, 2003, through September 9, 2003, he had changed his mind and now recommended that Petitioner be reinstated into The Florida Bar. P-Exhibit 15. FLA did not agree with Mr. Spring, and stated in an affidavit dated September 22, 2003, that Petitioner should not be reinstated to the practice of law until he could demonstrate strict compliance with a rehabilitation program for at least one year. TFB-Exhibit 19.

## <u>Misrepresentation</u>

Petitioner also engaged in misrepresentation in the course of the reinstatement proceedings. At the final hearing on his first petition, on December 13, 2000, Petitioner denied that he used crack cocaine despite a positive cocaine test by FLA on April 15, 1998. TFB-Exhibit 7 at pp. 133-134, 157-158. Petitioner claimed that alcohol was his nemesis, not cocaine. TFB-Exhibit 7 at p 136. Petitioner admitted at his second hearing, however, that he had used crack cocaine from 1997 until September 10, 2002, when he entered HCC for treatment. T-47-49, 179, 183-185, 230-235, 239, 242-244. Further, Mr. Grady testified that ever since he met Petitioner in 1996 that smokeable crack cocaine was always Petitioner's problem. T-46-49.

Petitioner tested positive for cocaine use again on January 11, 2001. TFB-

Exhibit 9. When The Florida Bar moved to reopen the proceedings to admit evidence of the positive cocaine test, Petitioner filed a signed, sworn affidavit with the referee dated January 21, 2001, in which he testified under oath that he had not used crack cocaine at any time since 1997. TFB-Exhibit 18. Petitioner admitted at his final hearing on his second reinstatement petition that this sworn affidavit was false. T-250-251.

On his first petition for reinstatement, Petitioner failed to disclose a DUI arrest in January 1999 that was reduced to reckless driving. P-Exhibit 3. He claimed he just "forgot." Petitioner also failed to list two judgments for prior debts on both his first and second petitions. One final judgment, for past due rent and costs, was entered on September 12, 1996 by Wallace Dawson, and as of December 2002, with no payments having been made, showed an accrued balance of \$1,686.22. TFB-Exhibit 13. A second final judgment for a student loan of \$16,806.80, outstanding since 1993, was filed and recorded on August 15, 2002. TFB-Exhibit 14. The Bar's investigation discovered these two debts after the second petition was filed.

When confronted by his monitor, Mr. Spring that Petitioner had been seen drinking and had alleged that he had permission to do so, he denied such statements to his monitor and to the referee at the second hearing. TFB-Exhibit 11;

T-287-288, 292.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Florida Bar petitions for review of the referee's report issued on November 22, 2003, challenging the Referee's conclusion that Petitioner should be reinstated to the practice of law in Florida. The Florida Bar contends that there is ample evidence in the record to show that Petitioner is not fit to return to the practice of law at this time and his reinstatement petition should be denied.

First, Petitioner failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that he meets the requirements of Rule 3-7.10(f) and the criteria in the relevant case law. Petitioner was suspended from the practice of law for over six years due to his own failure to maintain a consistent program of drug rehabilitation. During this period of time, Petitioner entered into five FLA contracts, and failed to comply with all of them.

Petitioner's continued noncompliance resulted in FLA representing to The Florida Bar before the final reinstatement hearing that Petitioner was unfit to return to the practice of law. This recommendation was supported by Mr. Sweeney of HCC who declared in his July 21, 2003, deposition that after a four-month residential rehabilitation program at HCC and six months of Petitioner living on his own, that Petitioner needed more "clean time" and he could not say with confidence that Petitioner was fit to return to the practice of law at that time. At the

time FLA and Mr. Sweeney made their recommendations to the referee at the final hearing, they were not aware of Mr. Grady's testimony that Petitioner had been drinking on two occasions in May 2003, just weeks before his reinstatement hearing. T-270.

Second, Petitioner has engaged in misrepresentation and made false statements during the reinstatement process to the referee during the first hearing on reinstatement. After the first hearing, Petitioner submitted a false affidavit to the referee. The Florida Bar has serious concerns about Petitioner's credibility when he engages in deceitful actions to achieve his own selfish ends. His personal assurances of continuing to maintain a strong program of sobriety have proven untrue in the past. TFB-Exhibit 7 at pp. 159-160. Petitioner's lack of candor and truthfulness during the reinstatement proceedings mitigate against lending any credence to his testimony that he will do better in the future maintaining his drug rehabilitation program.

Petitioner failed to disclose on his first petition for reinstatement that he had been arrested and charged on a DUI in January 1999 that was reduced to reckless driving. Petitioner also failed to disclose two debts, one a 1996 final judgment for nonpayment of rent, and the other a 1993 unpaid student loan, on both petitions for reinstatement. Petitioner's actions involving false and misleading statements should be sufficient standing alone to warrant denial of his petition for reinstatement.

#### **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

I. BASED ON THE EVIDENTIARY RECORD, THE REFEREE
ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT PETITIONER SHOULD BE
GRANTED REINSTATEMENT TO THE PRACTICE OF LAW
IN FLORIDA.

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