IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Re: PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT OF ANDREW REYNOLDS McGRAW Case No. SC02-1537

TFB No. 2003-00,019(1A)(NRE)

PETITIONER'S ANSWER BRIEF

John A. Weiss Attorney Number 0185229 Weiss & Etkin 2937 Kerry Forest Parkway, Suite B-2 Tallahassee, Florida 32309 (850) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

<u>CERTIFICATE OF TYPE, SIZE AND STYLE AND</u> <u>ANTI-VIRUS SCAN</u>

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a case of original jurisdiction pursuant to Articles V, VI and XV of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellee, Andrew Reynolds McGraw, shall be referred to as "Petitioner" or "Mr. McGraw" throughout this brief. Appellant, The Florida Bar, shall be referred as such or as "the Bar".

References to the transcript of the final hearing held on July 25, 2003 shall be designated as "TR" followed by the appropriate page number. Any other transcript shall be referred to by the designation "TR" with the date of that of that particular hearing and followed by the appropriate page number. The Report of Referee shall be designated "ROR" followed by the appropriate page number.

All exhibits entered into evidence at the hearings in the instant case shall be referred to as "TFB Ex." or "P Ex." for Bar and Petitioner exhibits respectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner cannot accept the Bar's statement of the case as written. It is argumentative, states its position on disputed issues as absolute fact and fails to distinguish between the instant proceedings, Case No. SC02-1537, and the predecessor proceedings, Case No. SC00-69. The Bar's statement of the case gives the appearance that the two cases were but a single proceeding. For ease of this Court's review, Petitioner will set forth the progression of both cases starting with the case before the Court on this date first.

<u>Case No. SC02-1537</u>. These proceedings were initiated by Petitioner's filing his petition for reinstatement in this Court on July 10, 2002. The Honorable Michael Jones, Circuit Judge, was appointed Referee on July 31, 2002. Judge Jones was the Referee that had presided over Petitioner's earlier reinstatement proceedings.

The original final hearing was continued. After discovery was completed, final hearing was held on July 25, 2003.

Subsequent to the July 25, 2003 final hearing, Petitioner filed his motion for leave to submit additional evidence. That motion was granted. Additional proceedings were conducted on October 14, 2003. The Referee's 39-page report was served on November 20, 2003.

<u>Case No. SC00-69</u>. On January 11, 2000, Mr. McGraw filed his first verified petition for reinstatement. After discovery occurred, final hearing was held on December 13, 2000. Oral argument subsequent to final hearing took place on January 4, 2001.

On January 11, 2001, Petitioner tested positive for cocaine during a random urinalysis. The Bar moved to reopen the evidentiary record and, after argument on January 25, 2001, the motion was granted. A supplemental hearing on the Bar's motion was scheduled for April 24, 2001. On March 5, 2001, Petitioner filed a voluntary dismissal of his petition for reinstatement. Subsequently, the Referee recommended that the petition for reinstatement be dismissed and, on November 21, 2001, the Supreme Court approved the Report of Referee, dismissed the proceedings and assessed costs.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Petitioner cannot accept The Florida Bar's statement of facts as written. They are argumentative, fail to distinguish between the instant action and the earlier proceedings, and assert disputed issues as absolute fact notwithstanding findings to the contrary by the Referee. (Petitioner hastens to add that he is not stating that the conduct that led to the dismissal of his first petition is irrelevant in these proceedings; he merely emphasizes that two separate cases have appeared before this Court and they should not be considered as a single proceeding.)

The Referee made extremely detailed findings of fact on pages 3-23 of his report. The overwhelming majority of those factual findings were stipulated. Those findings are quoted below. All emphasis and footnoting are those of the Referee's.

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS¹

1. McGraw was admitted to The Florida Bar on July 22, 1994.

2. Beginning in March 1997, the Supreme Court of Florida entered three disciplinary orders against McGraw.

3. McGraw was charged with a felony sexual battery upon a person under 16 but over 12 years of age. After the jury trial ended in a hung jury, McGraw pled *nolo contendere* on February 11, 1997 to <u>misdemeanor battery</u>. The court sentenced him to11 months in the Escambia County jail–to be served at a work camp. The court also ordered McGraw to write a letter of apology to the victim, pay for counseling, and pay other fees and costs.

4. In the first disciplinary case, Case No. 90,086, the Supreme Court of Florida granted The Florida Bar's Petition for Emergency Suspension, pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.2, on March 25, 1997, effective April 7, 1997.

5. Following McGraw's misdemeanor battery conviction, The Florida Bar opened a second disciplinary complaint, Case No. 92-473, and McGraw eventually entered into a consent judgment with The Florida Bar in that proceeding. The consent judgment provided that McGraw would be suspended from the practice of law for two years, effective April 7, 1997, the date of the initial emergency suspension, and that, following his release from jail, McGraw would enter into a three-year contract with Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. ("FLA"), serve three years probation after reinstatement, and pay taxable costs to The Florida Bar.

6. In the third disciplinary case, Case No. 93,175, McGraw received a discipline of suspension from the practice of law for 91 days, to run concurrent with the two-year suspension, for failing to diligently pursue and to properly communicate with a client who was charged with second degree

¹Portions of the following statement were taken from the parties' JOINT STATEMENT OF CASE, STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS, AND STATEMENT OF LAW murder. In addition to its 91-day suspension of McGraw, the Supreme Court placed him on probation for one year, to run concurrent with the three-year probation in Case No. 92,473, and required him to pay \$5,000 in restitution to his former client upon reinstatement, in addition to payment of taxable costs to The Florida Bar. McGraw submitted to The Florida Bar the required notice to clients and affidavit, pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-5.1(g), on September 12, 1999. *See Petitioner's Exhibit 5*. Both the two-year suspension and the 91-day suspension required proof of rehabilitation before reinstatement.

7. Upon release from jail following completion of his incarcerative sentence for misdemeanor battery, McGraw entered into a three-year FLA contract covering October 13, 1997, through October 13, 2000. *Petitioner's Composite Exhibit 1, TFB Exhibit 15.* In it, McGraw agreed to "totally refrain from the use of all mood altering substances, including alcohol," report to David Grady, LMHC, for evaluation and treatment; report to Stan Spring, FLA's monitor, on a monthly basis; participate in a 12-step Self Help Program, with a minimum of 90 AA/NA meetings in 90 days, then 3 meetings per week; and "keep an accurate record of AA/NA meetings and submit an acceptable monthly report to FLA." Additionally, this FLA contract required McGraw to attend one attorney support meeting per week and submit to "quarterly random urine drug/alcohol screens."

8. McGraw tested positive for cocaine on one of his drug screens in April 1998, and he was arrested for DUI in January 1999. *See Petitioner's Composite Exhibit 2*, Cohen Affidavit dated 4/19/00. As noted previously, the DUI charge was resolved when McGraw pled *nolo contendere* to the lesser offense of reckless driving. He was adjudged guilty, given 6 months probation, and required to attend DUI school. He attended Lakeview Center DUI School and received a Certificate of Completion on August 25, 1999. *Petitioner's Exhibit 8*. He satisfactorily completed probation in September 1999.

9. On March 31, 2000, Doris Braddock, an employee at Alvin's Island on Pensacola Beach, filed a police report in which she stated that while she was at work, McGraw approached her to ask the whereabouts of the store manager, and that when she was walking in front of McGraw to take him to this person, McGraw "grabbed her butt." Evidence existed that McGraw had consumed alcoholic beverages preceding the incident. No criminal charges were filed. *TFB Exhibit 6.* McGraw denied Ms. Braddock's allegations. Ms.

Braddock testified at the final hearing on the original Petition for Reinstatement in December 2000, and the Referee considered her testimony to be credible.

10. Pursuant to The Florida Bar counsel's request in the first Reinstatement proceeding, Myer ("Mike") J. Cohen, Executive director of FLA, submitted an affidavit on April 19, 2000, regarding McGraw's fitness to resume the practice of law. *Petitioner's Exhibit 2.* Mr. Cohen detailed McGraw's activities from August 1996 to April 2000 and concluded:

. . . [I]t is the opinion of Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. that <u>Mr.</u> <u>McGraw's chemical dependency is not in sustained remission</u>, that <u>this</u> <u>condition would impair his ability to practice law at this time</u>, and that <u>reinstatement to practice would represent a danger to his clients and the</u> <u>public</u>. (Emphasis supplied)

11. Upon receipt of this FLA affidavit, McGraw's counsel obtained a continuance of McGraw's reinstatement hearing from July 10, 2000, to December 13, 2000.

12. McGraw entered the Twelve Oaks Treatment Center for substance abuse treatment on June 5, 2000, and was released on June 23, 2000. *Petitioner's Exhibit 7. See also TFB Exhibit 1.* In the medical discharge summary, Dr. Rick Beach, M.D., Medical Director, stated:

In summary of treatment progress, the patient was <u>more compliant than</u> accepting. The patient did complete assignments and participated in groups. He appeared to keep a very safe and superficial level in dealing with his drug use and negative consequences. The patient struggled with his ability to see his own behaviors. He was confronted in one of my groups about willingness to go to any lengths for his sobriety and <u>it</u> became evident that he had not been totally honest with his fellow patients and did not have an attitude of willingness to do whatever it would take for his sobriety. To the group process he showed a very wilful attitude in wanting to do things his way. (Emphasis supplied)

TFB Exhibit 1. See also, 1T-81-82.

13. Dr. Beach recommended an extended long-term residential treatment program for McGraw, which McGraw refused to do. Dr. Beach concluded:

[McGraw's] prognosis for continued abstinence from alcohol and other drugs is most likely very poor without some type of extended treatment in view of his ability to honestly assess his own behaviors. I would have serious concerns about this patient returning to the practice of law and being able to do so with reasonable skill and safety, and having the ability to appropriately represent clients. (Emphasis supplied)

TFB Exhibit 1. See 1T-82-89.

14. Subsequently, Mr. Cohen provided Bar counsel with another affidavit, dated November 15, 2000, acknowledging that <u>after</u> Cohen's first recommendation against McGraw's reinstatement, McGraw began to make a "concerted effort to attend AA and attorney support meetings called for in his FLA contract." *Petitioner's Composite Exhibit 2*, <u>Cohen Affidavit dated 11/15/00</u>. Mr. Cohen noted McGraw's residential substance abuse treatment at Twelve Oaks from June 5 through June 23, 2000, but observed, "Mr. McGraw refused to accept the recommendation made by his treatment team that he enter an extended residential treatment program specializing in treatment of professionals." *Id.* Mr. Cohen concluded:

- 8. Based on the above, it is the opinion of Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. that <u>although Mr. McGraw may have remained</u> <u>chemically abstinent since his discharge from treatment, his</u> <u>prognosis is *guarded* at this time. While it is FLA's opinion that <u>his current condition would likely *not* impair his ability to practice</u> <u>law, it is recommended that should he be reinstated to practice,</u> <u>such reinstatement be subject to a minimum three-year</u> <u>probationary period</u> with the following conditions:</u>
 - a. Weekly urinalysis testing for the first year, twice monthly for the second year, and monthly for the final year;
 - b. Face to face meetings with monitor twice monthly;

- c. Attendance at the weekly FLA attorney support meeting;
- d. Attendance at not less than three 12 Step (AA or NA) meetings per week for the first two years, and two meetings per week for the final year; and
- e. That any failure to comply with the conditions of probation result in either immediate placement of Mr. McGraw on the inactive list or imposition of minimum 91 day suspension.

Id. (Emphasis supplied)

15. At the December 13, 2000, final hearing on the first Petition for Reinstatement, McGraw presented a 3-year FLA contract dated December 5, 2000. *Petitioner's Exhibit No. 1*. The contract required McGraw to "totally refrain from the use of all mood altering substances, including alcohol" and included all the standard provisions of the prior FLA contract, with one exception. McGraw agreed to submit to a minimum of 52 random urine drug/alcohol screens during the first 12 months of the contract, a minimum of 24 random screens for the second 12 months, and a minimum of 12 screens annually thereafter. The FLA contract was dated and signed by Mr. Cohen for FLA and by McGraw, but, apparently, it was never submitted to FLA. *Petitioner's Exhibit 1*.

16. McGraw filed the required quarterly employment reports with The Florida Bar, beginning in 1997 through March 2000. *TFB Exhibit 3*. However, as of the December 13, 2000, final hearing on the first Petition for Reinstatement, he had failed to file quarterly employment reports from March 2000 through December 2000.

17. McGraw was CLER delinquent as of December 8, 2000, because, although he had taken three courses to complete the requirement in 1999, he failed to submit a petition for removal of CLER delinquency and pay the reinstatement fee of \$150. *TFB Exhibit 2*.

18. On January 11, 2001, McGraw tested positive for cocaine use during a random drug screening by FLA. On January 22, 2001, Judy Rushlow,

Assistant Director of FLA, issued an affidavit verifying that the test was positive for cocaine and attached to it the verification from a second lab test. *TFB Exhibit 9*.

19. On January 25, 2001, McGraw submitted a sworn affidavit to the Referee testifying that he had not used cocaine since 1997. *TFB Exhibit 18*.

20. On March 5, 2001, McGraw withdrew his first Petition for Reinstatement *via* a Notice of Voluntary Dismissal. Based on this, the Referee recommended that the Petition for Reinstatement be dismissed, and the Supreme Court entered an Order dismissing the first Petition and assessing costs on November 21, 2001.

21. On July 1, 2001, McGraw signed another FLA contract, extending from July 1, 2001 through July 1, 2003. It contained standard provisions requiring McGraw to "totally refrain from the use of all mood altering substances, including alcohol," and to submit to "quarterly random urine drug/alcohol screens." *TFB Exhibit 16*.

22. On July 10, 2002, McGraw submitted a second verified Petition for Reinstatement to the Supreme Court of Florida and the Petition was referred to a Referee pursuant to R. Regulating Fla Bar 3-7.10(d). *Petitioner's Exhibit 11*.

23. Two months later, on September 10, 2002, McGraw voluntarily entered Health Care Connection ("HCC"), a drug rehabilitation center in Tampa, Florida. *TFB Exhibit 12A*.

24. Upon arrival at HCC, McGraw tested positive for cocaine. At that time HCC also observed beer bottles in the trunk of McGraw's car. *TFB Exhibit 12A*.

25. Judith R. Rushlow, Assistant Director of FLA, testified in her affidavit dated November 22, 2002, that:

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